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1.2 MANAGEMENT REPORT 
 
The Board of Directors presents its report together with the audited consolidated financial 
statements of the Theon International PLC (hereinafter the “Company”) and its subsidiaries 
(together with the Company, referred to as the ‘’Group’’) for the year ended 31 December 2021. 
 
Principal activity and nature of operations of the Group 

The main activities of the Group, that remain unchanged from prior year, is the production and trade 
of a large range of sensors, and in particular night vision systems, thermal systems (thermal sights) 
as well as other innovative electro-optical equipment and equipment for application to Defence and 
Security. 
 
Change in Company name 

On 24 September 2021 the Company changed its name from Τheon International Limited to Τheon 
International Plc. 
 
Changes in Company 

During the year the Company applied for listing in the non-regulated Emerging Capital Market of the 
Cyprus Stock Exchange. The listing was successfully completed on 13 December 2021. 
 
Review of current position, future developments and performance of the Group's business 
activities 

In 2021, the Group  focused on its strategic goals, seeking to gradually expand its operations despite 
intense competition, while also seeking to gain larger shares of the market. It achieved a sales 
growth of +40.4%, a profit increase before taxes of +117,1% and an EBITDA increase of +97,1%. 
 
In this context, the Group continued to grow and develop -primarily abroad- seeking to expand and 
improve the range of products/services offered, in order to acquire/retain its competitive advantage. 
Foreign markets are a key priority for the Company, with domestic sales accounting for 3% of total 
turnover. 
 
The Group’s results are summarised as follows:  

 2021  2020 
 

Variation  
% 

Increase / 
(Decrease) 

Turnover 80,557,820  54,219,581  26,338,239  ↑48.58%  

Results:        

Gross profit (€) 33,644,741  17,428,533  16,216,208  ↑93.04%  

% on Turnover 41.80%  32.14%     

EBITDA  26,696,759  12,322,858  14,373,901  ↑54.00%  

% on Turnover 33.14%  22.73%     

Profit before tax 24,314,999  10,171,685  14,143,314  ↑139.05%  

Profit after tax 19,063,442  7,429,646  11,633,796  ↑156.59%  

Operating Cash Flow 18,880,027  8,757,566  10,122,461  ↑115.59%  
 

Turnover amounted to € 80,557,820 (2020: € 54,219,581), while the net profit for the year, after 
taxes, amounted to € 19,063,442 (2020: € 7,429,646). 

The increase in profitability is due to the increase in volume and the significant improvement in the 
gross profit margin. 

In terms of capital management, key figures have improved significantly, with available funds 
exceeding total borrowings. 
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Selected Performance, Capital Structure and Liquidity ratios 

 

 

The above indicators confirm the improvement of financials and more efficient capital management, 
compared to the prior year. 
 
Capital Expenses 

The Group’s total investments amounted to EUR 3,923,523 in the period 1.1.2021 to 31.12.2021, 
while for 2022, the Group is planning on new investments that will begin in the second half of 2022 
with a total investment plan estimated at EUR 5,540,000, with emphasis on expanding, increasing 
and automating the Group's production potential as well as new systems – laboratories for the R&D 
department.  
 
Research and Development 

The Group  invests significant funds in research and in the development of optical systems with 
emphasis on new innovative products that ensure a competitive advantage. In 2021, the expenditure 
of the research and development department amounted to € 1,482,444 compared to € 1,095,239 in 
the previous year, marking an increase of +35.35% . During the year the Company recruited 7 highly 
qualified technicians in various fields. 
 
Principal risks and uncertainties 

The principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group are disclosed in notes 4.6 of the 
consolidated financial statements. 
 
Use of financial instruments by the Group 

The Group is exposed to the financial instruments it holds. 
 
Results and Dividends 

The Group's results for the year are set out on page 11.  Having evaluated the availability of 
distributable profits as well as the liquidity of the Group, the Board does not recommend the payment 
of a dividend and the net profit is transferred to reserves. 
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Projected development  

The Group expects the economic environment to improve, which will allow the sector, especially 
night vision systems, to further recover. This is expected to have a positive impact on the Group. 

More specifically, the Group considers that the anticipated increase in defence and security 
spending globally, and in particular, within the European Union, as a result of the Ukraine crisis, will 
positively affect the financial results of the Group for 2022 and 2023. 

The key factors which will affect the Group’s performance and turnover and results in 2022 include, 
among others, the willingness to spend on defence equipment (including that for security services), 
the state of the global economy and the intensity of competition.  

Group management constantly monitors these factors and designs measures to optimise Group 
performance based on the resultant data. 

To summarise, in 2022 the Group will strive to reinforce its consistently profitable performance by 
focusing on trade revenues mainly from exports, and by safeguarding its robust financial 
performance. The Group’s positive credit rating helps build trust with banks and key suppliers, 
allowing it to implement its business and investment plans without problems. 

Share capital 
Authorised capital 

On 13 September 2021 the authorised and issued share capital of the company increased by 
199.000. 
 
Issued 

On 13 September 2021 the Extraordinary General Meeting of the Company unanimously resolved 
to issue 199,000 ordinary shares of nominal value €1,00 each which were subsequently exchanged 
for the acquisition of Theon Sensors AG.  More specifically, 199,000 ordinary shares were offered 
to the shareholders of Theon Sensors AG for the acquisition of 100% of its issued share capital i.e., 
204,082 shares issued and fully paid shares. 

 
Board of Directors 

The members of the Group's Board of Directors as at 31 December 2021 and at the date of this 
report are presented on page 3. All of them were members of the Board of Directors throughout 
the year ended 31 December 2021.  

In accordance with the Company's Articles of Association ,all Directors presently members of the 
Board continue in office. 

There were no significant changes in the assignment of responsibilities and remuneration of the 
Board of Directors. 
 
Independent Auditors 

The Independent Auditors, PKF abas limited, have expressed their willingness to continue in office 
and a resolution giving authority to the Board of Directors to fix their remuneration will be proposed 
at the Annual General Meeting. 
 
By order of the Board of Directors, 
 
 
 
Secretary 
Nicosia, 12 May 2022 
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1.3    DECLARATION BY THE THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE GROUP FOR THE 
PREPARATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
Pursuant to Article 9, paragraphs (3) (c) and (7) of the Law on Transparency (Securities for Trading 
in a Regulated Market) of 2007 (Law 190 (I) / 2007) (the "Law") , we, the members of the Board of 
Directors and the other responsible parties for the financial statements of THEON INTERNATIONAL 
PLC for the year ended 31 December 2021, confirm that, to the best of our knowledge: 
 
(a) The annual consolidated financial statements of the Group which are presented on pages 11 - 
47: 

i. Were prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards as 
adopted by the European Union, and in accordance with the provisions of Article 9, 
paragraph 4 of the Law. 
 
ii. Provide a true and fair view of the Group's assets and liabilities, financial position and 
profit or loss. 

 
(b) The report of the Board of Directors provides a fair review of developments and performance as 
well as the position of the Company as a whole, along with a description of the main risks and 
uncertainties they face. 
 
 
Members of the Board of Directors 
 
 
 
 
The Managing Director  The Vice president of the Board 

   

   

   

Christian Hadjiminas  Petros Christou 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Stelios Anastasiou 
Responsible for preparing the financial statements 
 
 
 
Nicosia, 12 May 2022



THEON INTERNATIONAL PLC 

Page 8 

PKF abas limited  
 

 
Accountants & 
business advisers       

 
1.4 Independent Auditor’s Report 
 
To the Members of THEON INTERNATIONAL PLC 
 
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Opinion  
 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of THEON INTERNATIONAL PLC (the 
''Company'') and its subsidiaries (the ''Group''), which are presented in pages 11 - 47  and 
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021, and the 
consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, changes in equity 
and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of 
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2021, and of its consolidated 
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union and 
the requirements of the Cyprus Companies Law, Cap. 113. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the ''Auditor's Responsibilities for 
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements'' section of our report. We are independent 
of the Group in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants' 
International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence 
Standards) (IESBA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of 
the consolidated financial statements in Cyprus, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Other information      

The Board of Directors is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises 
the information included in the Management Report, but does not include the consolidated 
financial statements and our auditor's report thereon. 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and 
we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PKF abas limited  67 Limassol Avenue, Vision Tower,  5th Floor   2121 Aglantzia,  Nicosia  -  Cyprus 
Tel + 357 22 760100  Fax + 357 22 760140 P.O. Box 24374, 1703 Nicosia, Cyprus  Email: info.nicosia @pkf.com.cy 
    

 

PKF abas limited is a member firm of the PKF International Limited family of legally independent firms and does not accept 
any responsibility or liability for the actions or inactions of any individual member or correspondent firm or firms. 
 
PKF associated offices covering Africa, Australia, Canada, Caribbean, Central and South America, Europe, Middle and Far East, 
New Zealand, United States of America. 
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PKF abas limited  
 

 
Accountants & 
business advisers       

1.4 Independent Auditor’s Report (continued) 
To the Members of THEON INTERNATIONAL PLC 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read 
the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we 
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report 
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 
 

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors for the Consolidated Financial Statements  

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statements 
that give a true and fair view in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as 
adopted by the European Union and the requirements of the Cyprus Companies Law, Cap. 113, 
and for such internal control as the Board of Directors determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for 
assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of 
Directors either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so. 

The Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process. 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements    

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and 
to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial 
statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive 
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control. 
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PKF abas limited  
 

 
Accountants & 
business advisers       

1.4 Independent Auditor’s Report (continued) 
To the Members of THEON INTERNATIONAL PLC 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Board of Directors. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors' use of the going concern basis 
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability 
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going 
concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves a true and fair 
view. 

 Obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the 
entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated 
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of 
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with the Board of Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit. 

Other Matter   
 
This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for the Group's members as 
a body in accordance with Section 69 of the Auditors Law of 2017 and for no other purpose. We 
do not, in giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any 
other person to whose knowledge this report may come to. 
 
 
 
George Koukoumas 
Certified Public Accountant and Registered Auditor 
for and on behalf of 

 

PKF abas limited  
Certified Public Accountants and Registered Auditors  
67 Limassol Avenue 
Vision Tower 
5th Floor 
2121 Nicosia, Cyprus 

 

 
Nicosia, 12 May 2022 
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2.   Financial Statements 
 
2.1  Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive 
Income 
  
 Note 2021 2020 

  € € 

Turnover (net) 5.1 80,557,820 54,219,581 
Cost of sales 5.2 (46,913,079) (36,791,048) 

Gross profit  33,644,741 17,428,533 

Other income 5.3 161,973 48,254 

  33,806,714 17,476,787 

Administrative expenses 5.4 (5,286,284) (3,864,322) 

Selling expenses 5.5 (1,530,883) (1,255,788) 

Research & Development expenses 5.6 (1,482,444) (1,095,239) 

Other expenses, losses and impairments 5.7 (463,535) (966,742) 

Other income and gains 5.8 363,952 841,387 

Ea Profit rnings before interest and tax  25,407,520 11,136,083 

Interest income and related income 5.9 170 192,341 

Interest charges and related expenses 5.9 (1,092,691) (1,156,739) 

Profit before tax  24,314,999 10,171,685 

Income tax 5.10 (5,251,557) (2,742,039) 

Profit for the year before tax  19,063,442 7,429,646 
 
Earnings per share  2021 2020 
    

Basic earnings per share net of tax (in €) 5.11 95.32 37.15 

Diluted earnings per share net of tax (in €) 5.11 95.32 37.15 

 

  2021 2020 

  € € 

Profit for the year net of tax  19,063,442 7,429,646 

Unrealised exchange profits  - 69,743 

Unrealised exchange losses  - (78,043) 

Re-measurement of defined benefit plans  5.20 1,305 (1,446) 

Corresponding income tax 5.10 (287) 347 

Other comprehensive income / (losses) after tax   1,018 (9,399) 

Total comprehensive income after tax  19,064,460 7,420,247 
 
 
 

 

 

 

The notes on pages 16 to 47 form an integral part of the financial statements. 
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2.2 Consolidated Statement of Financial Position  
 
  2021 2020 
Non-current assets Note € € 
Tangible assets    
Own-use properties 5.12 5,185,213 4,068,939 
Investment properties 5.12 1,491,327 - 
Machinery & equipment 5.12 2,462,622 1,892,254 
Other equipment 5.12 1,537,581 1,300,543 
Total  10,676,743 7,261,736 
    
Intangible assets    
Development costs 5.13 192,343 247,466 
Other intangible assets 5.13 331,115 336,352 
Total  523,458 583,818 
    
Financial assets    
Other non-current receivables 5.14 103,922 97,347 
Total  103,922 97,347 
    
Deferred tax asset 5.15 54,047 221,000 
Total non-current assets   

11,358,170 
 

8,163,901 
    
Current assets    
Stocks    
Finished goods and work in progress  5.16 4,442,512 3,720,990 
Raw material and various materials 5.16 8,216,935 9,572,476 
Down payments for inventories 5.16 2,871,060 53,820 
Total  15,530,507 13,347,286 
    
Financial assets and receivables    
Trade receivables 5.17 15,841,677 6,779,237 
Other receivables 5.17 2,709,585 2,889,362 
Other financial assets 5.17 397,378 333,608 
Cash and cash equivalents 5.18 26,096,448 14,632,284 
Total  45,045,088 24,634,491 
Total current assets   

60,575,595 
 

37,981,777 
Total assets  71,935,632 45,145,678 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The notes on pages 16 to 47 form an integral part of the financial statements. 
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2.2  Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (continued) 
 

Equity Note 2021 2020 
  € € 
Net assets    
Paid up capital    
Share capital 5.19 200,000 200,000 
Total  200,000 200,000 
Reserves    
Reserves 5.19 64,949,785 43,772,361 
Consolidation reserve 5.19 (31,304,573) (29,353,878) 
Total  33,645,212 14,418,483 
Total net assets  33,845,212 14,618,483 
Provisions    
Provisions for employee benefits 5.20 162,035 136,744 
Deferred tax liabilities  - 116,242 
Total  162,035 252,986 
    
Liabilities    
Long-term liabilities    
Loans 5.21 7,540,103 1,705,883 
Lease liabilities 5.21 815,417 360,014 
Loans from shareholders 5.29.2 - 6,960,887 
Government grants 5.22 378,385 4,969 
Total Long-term liabilities  8,733,905 9,031,753 
    
Short term liabilities    
Loans 5.21 8,922,898 10,936,288 
Short term portion of long-term loans 5.21 717,536 106,587 
Lease liabilities 5.21 281,350 273,382 
Trade payables 5.23 6,915,631 6,641,250 
Tax liabilities 5.24 4,296,230 2,093,644 
Other taxes and duties 5.25 131,663 121,956 
Social security providers  209,488 219,797 
Other liabilities 5.26 7,719,684 1,849,552 
Total Short term liabilities  29,194,480 22,242,456 
Total liabilities  37,928,385 31,527,195 
 
Total net assets, provisions and liabilities 

  
71,935,632 

 
45,145,678 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The notes on pages 16 to 47 form an integral part of the financial statements. 
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2.3  Statement of changes in equity 
 
 

 Share 
capital

Reserves 
mandated by 

law or the 
articles of 

association

Statutory 
reserve

Retained 
Profit / 

(losses)

Other 
comprehe

nsive 
income

Consolidation 
reserve *

Total

  €   €   €   €   €   €   €  
Balance 1/1/2020 200,000 2,783,356 1,319,156 29,376,863 1,954,235 (29,320,775) 6,312,835 
Effect of change in accounting 
policy (IAS 19) 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
128,435 

 
- 

 
- 

 
128,435 

Restated balance 1/1/2020 200,000 2,783,356 1,319,156 29,505,298 1,954,235 (29,320,775) 6,441,270 
        
Profit /(loss) for the year - - - 7,384,921 193,835 - 7,578,756 
Effect of change in accounting 
policy (IAS 19) 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
14,017 

 
- 

 
- 

 
14,017 

Other comprehensive income 
/(loss) 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(9,399) 

 
- 

 
- 

 
(9,399) 

Effect of change in accounting 
policy (IAS 19) 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
30,888 

 
- 

 
- 

 
30,888 

 
Total comprehensive income 

    
7,420,927 

 
193,835 

  
7,614,262 

 
Changes during the year: 

        

Capitalisation of other reserves  
- 

 
820,587 

 
72,485 

 
(299,422) 

 
- 

 
(33,103) 

 
560,547 

Other rounding differences  
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
2,404 

 
- 

 
- 

 
2,404 

Balance on 31/12/2020 and 
1/1/2021 

 
200,000 

 
3,603,943 

 
1,391,641 

 
36,628,707 

 
2,148,070 

 
(29,353,878) 

 
14,618,483 

 
Profits /(losses) for the year 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
19,063,442 

 
2,260,272 

 
- 

 
21,323,714 

Other comprehensive income 
/(loss) 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
1,018 

 
- 

 
- 

 
1,018 

 
Total comprehensive income 

    
19,064,460 

 
2,260,272 

 
 

 
21,324,732 

 
Changes during the year: 

        

Capitalisation of other reserves  
- 

 
- 

 
389,513 

 
(537,005) 

 
- 

 
(1,950,695) 

 
(2,098,187) 

Other rounding differences  
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
184 

 
- 

 
- 

 
184 

Balance on 31/12/2021 200,000 3,603,943 1,781,154 55,156,346 4,408,342 (31,304,573) 33,845,212 
 
 
* Note:  Consolidation reserve represents the difference between the consideration paid for the acquisition 
of a subsidiary and the book value of its net assets. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The notes on pages 16 to 47 form an integral part of the financial statements. 
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2.4  Cash Flow Statement 

 Note 2021 2020 
  € € 

Profit before tax  24,314,999 10,171,685 
Plus / minus adjustments for:    
Depreciation 5.12, 5.13 1,289,239 1,186,775 
Credit interest, exchange differences and 
related income 

 
5.8, 5.9 

(74,308) (944,880) 

Assets subsidies  (45,332) - 
(Reversal of impairment)/impairment of 
investments 

5.17 (51,747) 38,449 

Impairment of receivables 5.17 9,429 120,239 
Impairment of inventory 5.16 34,642 530,901 
Profit from the sale of assets  (39,888) - 
Income from dividends  (3,348) (2,040) 
Provisions  9,125 36,343 
Other non-cash transactions  189,000 - 
Interest charges, exchange differences and 
related expenses 

 
5.7, 5.9 

 
1,276,891 

 
1,843,983 

  26,908,702 12,981,455 
Add / minus:    
Decrease/ (increase) in inventories 5.16 (2,217,863) (2,174,742) 
Decrease/ (increase) in receivables 5.14, 5.17 (8,797,351) 4,422,004 
(Decrease) / increase in liabilities  6,012,832 (4,534,489) 

  21,906,321 10,694,228 
Less:    
Payments for income tax  (3,026,293) (1,936,672) 
Inflows / outflows from operating activities  
(a) 

 18,880,027 8,757,556 

    
Investing activities    
(Acquisition) / sale of investments  - (102,312) 
(Acquisition) / sale of tangible and intangible 
assets  

  
(4,603,999) 

 
(921,516) 

Interest received  170 1,832 
Dividends received  3,348 2,040 
Receipts from grants  418,748 189,524 
Inflows / outflows from investing activities 
(b) 

 (4,181,733) (830,432) 

    
Financing activities    
Receipts from loans 5.21 37,471,883 19,933,120 
Repayment of loan principal 5.21 (33,067,728) (17,011,880) 
Repayment of loan interest 5.21 (453,453) (356,948) 
Net inflows / (outflows) of lease liabilities 5.21 (280,629) (241,463) 
Interest on lease liabilities  5.21 (17,455) (15,774) 
Repayment of shareholder loans  (6,960,887) (2,719,709) 
Inflows / outflows from financing activities 
(c) 

 (3,308,269) (412,654) 

    
Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents for the year (a)+(b)+(c) 

 11,390,025 7,514,470 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of 
year 

 14,632,284 7,054,462 

Foreign exchange differences  74,139 63,352 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year  26,096,448 14,632,284 

 

The notes on pages 16 to 47 form an integral part of the financial statements. 
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Notes on the Financial Statements 
 
3. General information about the Group 
 
Theon International PLC (“The Company”) was incorporated in Cyprus on 10 August 2021 as a 
private limited liability company under the provisions of the Cyprus Companies Law, Cap. 113 
and was converted to a Public Limited Liability Company on 13 September 2021.  Its registered 
office is at 5 Agios Antonios Street, 1st floor, Office 102, 2002 Nicosia, Cyprus. 
 
The company was incorporated with the purpose to acquire the 100% of the issued share capital 
of Theon Sensors AG, a company incorporated in Switzerland.  The acquisition agreements 
were concluded on 27 August 2021. Theon Sensors AG is the 100% owner of the following 
companies: 
 
- Theon Sensors Single Member SA, Greece,  

- Theon Sensors MEA FZC, United Arab Emirates 
- Theon Deutschland GmbH, Germany,  
- Theon Sensors Far East Ltd., Singapore and 

- Theon Sensors USA Inc. USA  
 

For the acquisition of the share capital of Theon Sensors AG, the Company issued on 13 
September 2021, 199,000 ordinary shares of €1.00 each in exchange of 204,082 issued and 
fully paid shares in Theon Sensors AG. 
 
Theon International PLC together with its subsidiaries form the Group “Theon Sensors” (“The 
Group”). 
 
The Group is engaged in the production and trade of a large range of sensors, and in particular 
night vision systems, thermal systems (thermal sights) and other innovative electro-optical 
equipment and equipment for application to Defense and Security. 
 
4. Summary of main accounting policies 
 
The main accounting policies implemented in preparing these consolidated financial statements 
are set out below: 
 
4.1. Basis of preparation of the financial statements 
 
Basis of preparation 
 
The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended  31 December 2021 
consist of the financial statements of the parent Company and its subsidiaries in accordance 
with international financial reporting standards (IFRS) and the Interpretations issued by the IFRS 
Interpretations Committee as adopted by the European Union. 
 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the historical cost 
or deemed cost principle, keeping each year separate, ensuring uniform presentation, taking into 
account the materiality of the information and applying the accrued revenues and expenses 
principle. The financial statements have also been prepared on the basis that the Group remains 
a going concern. 
 
Preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the IFRS requires the use of certain 
important accounting estimates and the exercise of judgement by Management in applying the 
accounting policies. The financial statements areas where estimates are particularly important 
are outlined in note 4.5. 
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Consolidated financial statements 
The consolidated Balance Sheet (Statement of financial position) at 31 December 2021 and the 
Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive income (“Income Statements and Statement” or 
“comprehensive income”) for the respective year include the financial statements of Theon 
International PLC and its subsidiaries and were prepared on the assumption that were a Group 
since 1 January 2020. 
 
For the purposes of preparing the consolidated financial statements, the method of Business 
Combinations under Common Control was followed, where the book value method (“book-value 
accounting” or “Predecessor Value method”) is applied. The assets and liabilities of the acquired 
company were recognised based on their current book values instead of fair values.  The 
Management has adopted this method of business combination since the new business structure 
does not affect the shareholding structure and minority interests.  Furthermore, no resources 
were spent outside the group as a result of this restructuring. 
 
Therefore, the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position and the Consolidated Statement of 
Comprehensive Income at 31 December 2021 are presented as the sum of the respective 
financial statements of the parent and its subsidiaries as if they had been combined during the 
accounting periods included in these financial statements. The difference between the 
acquisition price of a company and the book value of the corresponding net assets is presented 
as “consolidation reserve” in the reserves. 
 
The balances and transactions between the Group companies were eliminated during the 
consolidation in accordance with IFRS 10 “Consolidated Financial Statements”. 
 
4.2. New standards, interpretations, reviews and amendments to standards which are 

in effect and have been adopted by the European Union  
 

The following amendments and interpretations of IFRS have been issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and their application is mandatory for periods beginning on 
or after 1st January 2021.  
 
The most important standards and interpretations are listed below: 
 
Mandatory standards and interpretations for the current fiscal year 
 
IAS / IFRS Effective date 
IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7, IFRS 4& IFRS16 amendments:  
Interest rate benchmark reform – Phase 2 

1st January 2021 

IFRS 4 amendment: postponement of IFRS 9 1st January 2021 
IFRS 16 amendment: Covid-19-related rent concessions  1st April 2021 

 
From the aforementioned amendments, only changes in IFRS 16 regarding Covid-19-related 
rent concessions have resulted in changes in accounting policies. The other amendments either 
have little effect on the financial statements or are not relevant to the Group. 
 
IFRS 16 amendment: Covid-19-related rent concessions  
Since June 1 2020, IFRS 16 was amended in order to provide lessees with a practical expedient 
in relation to the accounting treatment of rent concessions and changes that are related to the 
Covid-19 pandemic. In order to make use of this accounting treatment, all of the following 
conditions must be met:  
 
a. The change in lease payments results in a revised total consideration that is substantially the 

same as, or less than, the consideration prior the amendment in the lease payments.  
b. Reduction in lease payments affects only payments originally due on or before 30 June 2021 

and  
c. There is no substantive change to other terms of the lease agreement.  
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Rent concessions that meet the above conditions do not need to be assessed and treated as 
lease modifications in accordance with IFRS 16, recalculating the lease obligations so that they 
present the total consideration of the lease using a revised interest rate.  
 
The Group applied this practical expedient of IFRS 16 for all rent concessions for the period 
between March and December 2020, using the initial interest rate of the lease contracts and the 
change in lease obligations was recognized in the income statement. This accounting treatment 
had no effect in the financial statements for the year ended 31/12/2020. 
 
4.3 New accounting standards, amendments to standards and interpretations that will 

become mandatory in subsequent periods  
 

IAS / IFRS Effective date 

Annual improvements to IFRS : 2018-2020 1 January 2022 

IAS 16 amendment: Proceeds before intended use 1 January 2022 

IAS 37 amendment: Onerous contracts – Cost of fulfilling a contract  1 January 2022 

Amendments to IFRS 3: Conceptual Framework for Financial 
Reporting 

1 January 2022 

Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8: Classification of liabilities as Long 
term or short term.  

1 January 2023 

Amendments to IAS 8: Definition of Accounting Estimates 1 January 2023 

Amendments to IAS 12 : Deferred Tax related to Assets and 
Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction  

1 January 2023 

Amendments to IAS 1 και and IFRS Practice Statement 2: Disclosure 
of Accounting Policies 

1 January 2023 

New IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts  1 January 2023 

 
The amendments above that will become mandatory in subsequent periods are not expected to 
have a significant effect on the Group’s financial statements.  
 
4.4. Group Accounting Policies 
 
4.4.1. Tangible assets  
Tangible assets are measured at acquisition cost less accumulated depreciation and any 
impairment loss, apart from the plots/lots category which is measured at acquisition cost less 
any impairment losses. 
 
The cost of acquisition of tangible assets includes all expenses directly associated with 
acquisition of the tangible assets. Subsequent expenditure is added to the book value of the 
tangible asset or recorded as a separate tangible asset, only if there is a high likelihood that the 
specific tangible asset will generate future financial gains for the economic entity and the cost 
can be reliably assessed. 
 
The carried cost of a part of a tangible asset which is replaced ceases to be recognised. Repairs 
and maintenance are charged to the income statement when incurred. 
 
Subsequent expenditure is depreciated either over the remaining useful life of the asset or the 
period up to the next planned improvement to the tangible asset, whichever is shorter. 
 
Depreciation of all tangible assets is computed using the straight-line method over the useful life 
of the assets. The estimated useful life of the most important categories of tangible assets 
coincides with the depreciation rates in the tax laws, since in the view of the Group management 
team, they correctly reflect the estimated useful economic life of the assets.  
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Such rates are as follows: 
 

 
 

The residual values and useful lives of tangible assets are re-examined and adjusted at the end 
of each period, if that is considered necessary. 

Where the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its recoverable amount, the value of the 
asset is adjusted to the recoverable amount. 

Each tangible asset and each important part thereof initially recognised is derecognised upon 
sale or when no future economic gain is expected from use or sale thereof.  

Gains and losses which arise from the sale of tangible assets are calculated as the difference 
arising between the revenue from sale and the carrying amount, as shown in the accounting 
books and included in the operating results. 

Interest from loans taken out specifically or generally to finance the construction of tangible 
assets is capitalised in the year in which it arises, during the tangible asset construction period, 
where the recognition criteria are met. 

 
4.4.2. Investment property 
Investment property is investments that relate to all those properties (including land, buildings or 
parts of buildings or both) that are held by the Company either to earn rentals or for capital 
appreciation or both, and are not used in commercial or other activities of the Company. 
Investment property is measured at acquisition cost less accumulated depreciation and 
impairment. 
 
 
4.4.3. Intangible assets  
Intangible assets acquired separately are recorded at historical cost. After initial recognition, 
intangible assets continue to be measured at historical cost less the accumulated depreciation 
and accumulated impairment losses.  
 
Intangible assets generated in-house are capitalised if the relevant expenditure is associated 
with an intention on Management’s part, and a technical capability, to complete the intangible 
asset (for use or sale), if there is a strong likelihood that there will be future financial gains and 
that there is a reliable system for measuring such costs.  
 
In all other cases, the relevant cost is recognised as an expense. 
 
The Group’s intangible assets have a limited useful life and are depreciated over their useful life. 
They are tested for impairment when there are signs that some intangible assets may have 
suffered impairment. Intangible assets whose usage period is contractually specified are 
depreciated over that period. Such assets without a usage period specified in contract are 
depreciated based on estimated useful economic life. 
 
The useful life and depreciation method for intangible assets with a specific useful life are re-
examined at least in each year in which financial statements are prepared. Changes to the 
expected useful life or expected method by which future financial gains accrue for each 
intangible asset are treated as a change in an accounting estimate. The cost of depreciating 
intangible assets is recognised in the income statement. 
 

Buildings 4% per year (25 years)

Machinery and technical installations 10% per year (10 years)

Means of transport  12% to 16% per year (6.2 to 8.3 years)

Furniture and other equipment 10% per year (10 years)

Computers 20% per year (5 years)

Assets of lesser value (below € 1,500) 100% per year (1 year) 
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Depreciation of all intangible assets is computed using the straight-line method over the useful 
life of the assets. The estimated useful life of the most important categories of intangible assets 
coincides with the depreciation rates in the tax laws, since in the view of the Group management 
team, they correctly reflect the estimated useful economic life of the assets. Such rates are as 
follows: 
 
Other intangibles  10% per year  (10 years) 
R&D  – Internally Generated intangibles  10% per year  (10 years) 
Contractually specified useful life    1 / contractual years 
 
4.4.4. Impairment of tangible & intangible assets 
Tangible assets with an unlimited life (such as land) are not depreciated or tested annually for 
impairment. 
 
Tangible and intangible assets which can be depreciated are tested for impairment in case 
events or changes in the circumstances suggest that the book value may no longer be 
recoverable. When the carrying amount for tangible and intangible assets exceeds the 
recoverable value, then the impairment loss amount is entered directly in the results as an 
expense.  
 
For the purposes of impairment testing, assets are grouped together in the lowest category 
where cash flows allow them to be individually identified. Non-financial assets, other than 
goodwill, which have been impaired are re-assessed for any possible reversal in impairment on 
each date the financial statements are prepared. 
 
The recoverable value of assets is either the fair value of asset less sale costs or the value in 
use, whichever is higher. 
 
4.4.5. Leases 
The Group adopted IFRS 16 “Leases” with full retrospective effect, for both properties and cars. 
 
When recognising a contract as a lease, the Group examines all relevant facts and 
circumstances, and excludes short-term leases (of less than 12 months) and leases where the 
leased property has low value. 
 
When a contract is or contains a lease, each lease element is recognised separately from the 
non-lease elements of the contract, unless the Group opts, as appropriate, for the sake of 
simplification to apply uniform recognition as a practical solution. 
 
The Group as lessee: 
At the lease start date, the lessee recognises the asset with a right to use and a lease liability. 
Initial measurement of the right to use the assets includes the lease liability, any rents paid on 
the rental period start date or prior to it, less any lease incentives collected, any initial direct costs 
incurred by the lessee and an estimate of the cost of returning the leased property to the state 
specified in the lease agreement. 
 
The initial measurement of the lease liability includes the current value of rents discounted using 
the presumed lease interest rate. If that interest rate cannot be easily set, the lessee’s differential 
borrowing rate is used. 
Subsequently, the right to use the asset is reduced by the accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses and any re-measurements of the lease liability is adjusted. 
Subsequently the lease liability increases the interest on the lease liability, and is reduced by the 
payment of rental costs, and is re-measured when the leased property is revalued or the lease 
is amended. 
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The Group as lessor: 
The Group classifies the lease either as an operating lease or finance lease. Leases where the 
Group does not in effect transfer all risks and rewards of ownership are classified as operating 
leases. 
 
When the assets are leased in the context of operating leases, they are presented in the 
statement of financial position in accordance with the nature of each asset. 
 
Rental costs under operating leases are recognised in the results using the straight-line method 
over the duration of the lease. 
 
Initial direct costs incurred when signing an operating lease are added to the book value of the 
leased asset and are recognised in expenses over the term of the lease on the same basis of 
recognition as revenues from rental income. 
 
Any rental income is recognised as revenues in the period in which they are generated. 
 
4.4.6. Stocks 
Inventories are valued at acquisition cost or net realisable value, whichever is lower.  
Acquisition cost is calculated using the average weighted cost method. The cost of finished 
products and production under way consists of the cost of raw materials, direct labour costs, 
other direct costs and general industrial overheads associated with production (in accordance 
with normal production capacity). Net realisable value is the estimated sale price in the normal 
course of business, less the estimated  selling and transaction costs. 
 
Any loss resulting from measuring stocks/inventories at net realisable value, when it is below 
acquisition cost, is recognised in impairment losses and affects the cost of sales in the income 
statement. Where there are particularly high impairment losses for stocks/inventories, the 
relevant amounts are shown in the ‘Asset impairment’ account in the income statement to ensure 
fair presentation. 
Appropriate provisions are made for impaired, obsolete and slow-moving inventories. Write-
downs of inventories to net realisable value and other losses from inventories are recognised in 
the income statement in the period they occur. 
 
4.4.7. Trade receivables 
Trade receivables are the balances owed by customers from the sale of goods or provision of 
services in the context of the Group’s normal operations. Trade receivables are initially 
recognised at their fair value and later valued at the carrying amount by using the effective 
interest rate method, less impairment losses. The Group shows any unreserved rights over the 
consideration from contracts with customers separately as a trade receivable. 
 
4.4.8. Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash includes cash on hand and sight deposits. 

Cash equivalents in the cash flow statement include not just cash and sight deposits but also 
short-term highly liquid investments and bank overdrafts, when applicable. 

Bank overdrafts are shown in liabilities under short-term loan liabilities. Cash and cash 
equivalents entail negligible risk of a change in their value. 

 
4.4.9. Share capital 
Ordinary and preference shares without voting rights are shown in the “share capital” account in 
Equity. The share capital shows the value of Company shares which have been issued and are 
in circulation.  
 
4.4.10   Loans and Borrowings 
Loan obligations are initially entered at the net amount received less direct loan costs (bank 
charges and bank or third-party commission). In subsequent periods, the loan obligations are 
shown at the carrying amount using the effective interest rate method. 
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Loan obligations are classified as short-term liabilities apart from cases where the Group has 
the unreserved right to defer settlement of its obligation for at least 12 months from the reporting 
date. 
 
4.4.11. Current and deferred income tax 
Tax for the period consists of current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the Income 
Statement apart from cases relating to items recognised in other comprehensive income or 
directly in equity. In this case, tax is recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in 
equity, as appropriate. 
 
Current income tax is calculated based on the tax laws adopted or substantively adopted on the 
date the financial statements are prepared. Management periodically evaluates the positions 
taken in the tax returns when applicable tax laws are subject to interpretation and forms 
provisions, when needed, based on the amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities. 
 
Deferred income tax is calculated using the liability method, based on temporary differences 
between the tax base of assets and liabilities and the corresponding amounts shown in the 
financial statements.  
 
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that there will be a future taxable profit for use 
of the temporary difference generated by the deferred tax assets. 
 
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary adjustments. A deferred tax asset 
is recognised for deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is expected that the 
temporary difference will be reversed in the future and there will be an adequate future taxable 
profit for use of the temporary difference.  
 
4.4.12. Employee benefits 
 
(a) Pension and other post-employment obligations 
The Group does not participate in pension and other post-employment benefit plans or defined 
benefit or defined contribution plans with the exception of the statutory social security schemes 
which are mandatory by the laws. 
 
(a.1) Defined Contribution Plans 
Defined contribution plans mean pension plans where the Group pays fixed contributions to a 
separate entity. The Group has no legal or presumed obligation to pay additional contributions 
in the case where the fund’s resources would not be adequate to pay employees benefits for 
their service, relating to the current period and past periods.  
 
For defined contribution plans, the Group pays the mandatory contributions required by public 
social security funds. Once the contributions are paid, the Group is not obliged to pay any 
additional contributions. Regular contributions are recognised as a cost of employee benefits 
when they become payable.  
 
Any prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that prepayment would lead 
to a reduction in future payments or the return of cash. 
 
(a.2) Defined Benefit Plans 
Defined benefit plan means a pension plan or plan involving other post-employment benefits 
which is not a defined contribution plan. Post-employment benefit obligations at the end of the 
current period and previous period were calculated in line with an actuarial study using the 
projected credit unit method. 
 
The obligation arising from defined benefit plans is the present value of the commitment to 
provide a defined benefit on the date the financial statements are prepared, less the fair value 
of any assets the plan has.  
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The present value of the commitment to provide a defined benefit is calculated using the discount 
rate for corporate bonds with a high credit rating in euro, whose term approximates the duration 
of the relevant pension obligation. 
 
The cost of past service is recognised in the results, broken down into current cost of service 
and cost of past service, gains and losses from reductions and the cost of settling pay. 
 
The net financial income or expenses are recognised in financial expenses. 
Re-assessments, broken down into actuarial gains or losses and the difference between the 
estimated and actual performance of the plan’s assets, are recognised in the statement of 
financial position in the “retained earnings” account through the statement of other 
comprehensive income for the period. The re-assessments are not reclassified in the income 
statement in subsequent periods. 
 
(b) Employment termination benefits 
Employment termination benefits are payable when an employee’s employment is terminated 
by the Group before the normal retirement date or when the employee agrees to voluntarily leave 
in return for these benefits. 
 
The Group records these benefits on whichever of these dates is first: a) when the Group can 
no longer withdraw the offer of such benefits and b) when the Group recognises an expense 
from restructuring which is in the context of implementing IAS 37, which includes payment of 
employment termination benefits.  
 
Where an offer to encourage voluntary redundancy is made, employment termination benefits 
are calculated based on the number of employees who are expected to accept the offer. 
Employment termination benefits due 12 months after the date on which the financial statements 
are prepared are discounted at present value. 
 
(c) Employee profit sharing and bonus schemes 
The obligation to provide benefits to employees in the form of profit sharing or performance 
bonuses is entered in the “other provisions” account when there is an official scheme and the 
amounts to be paid have been specified before the date on which the financial statements are 
published, or if previous Group practices have given rise to a strong expectation from employees 
that they will be paid a performance bonus / profit share-out and the amount can be estimated 
before the date on which the financial statements are approved. 
 
4.4.13. Government grants 
Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that 
the grant will be received and the Group will comply with all relevant conditions. 
 
Government grants relating to expenses are recognised in the results as income in the period in 
which the subsidised expenses are input in to the results. 
 
Government grants relating to the purchase of tangible assets are included long-term liabilities 
as deferred government grants, and are presented as income in the income statement using the 
straight-line method over the expected useful life of the relevant assets. 
 
Subsequent to initial recognition, state grants are depreciated by transfer to Income Statement  
as expenses, in the same period and in a manner corresponding to the transfer to Income 
Statement  of the book value of the asset subsidised.  
 
Government grants relating to expenses are initially recognised as liabilities in the period in 
which they are collected or in the period when approval for them is finalised and it is certain that 
they will be collected. State grants concerning expenses are transferred to profit and loss as 
revenue for  the period when the subsidised expenses are charged in profit and loss. 
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4.4.14. Provisions 
Provisions are liabilities where the time or amount is uncertain.  
Provisions are recognised when there is a present legal or presumed commitment as a result of 
past events; it is likely that an outflow of resources will be needed to settle the commitment and 
the amount required can be reliably estimated. When the Group expects to be compensated for 
a loss which it has suffered (as in the case of insurance contracts for example) and it is fully 
certain that the amount will be collected, the specific compensation is recognised as a separate 
receivable. The cost associated with each provision is presented in the income statement, net 
of any compensation. 
 
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses. The Group forms a provision for 
onerous contracts when the financial gain expected to flow from such contracts is less than the 
unavoidable cost of complying with contractual obligations. 
 
Restructuring provisions include penalties for early termination of leases and payment of 
employment termination benefits and are recorded in the period in which the Group acquires the 
legal or presumed obligation to make payment. Costs associated with the Group’s normal 
business activity are not entered in provisions before binding events occur. 
When time affects the value of money in a significant way, provisions are measured at the 
present value of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the liability, using a pre-tax 
interest rate which reflects the current market estimates of the value of money over time and 
risks associated with the liability, as the discounting rate. An increase in the provision due to the 
passage of time is recognised as a financial expense. 
 
4.4.15. Revenue recognition 
The Group adopted IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”, which it applied with full 
retrospective effect. 
 
The Group recognises the revenue in a manner that reflects the transfer of goods or services to 
customers at the amount which it anticipates itself to be entitled to in exchange for these goods 
or services. 
 
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is likely that the financial benefits will accrue to the 
Group and the relevant amounts can be reliably quantified. Revenues are valued at fair value of 
the consideration collected or to be collected, and represent the amounts due from the sale of 
goods or provision of services, net of VAT, returns and discounts. 
 
Revenue from sales of goods is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership 
are transferred to the buyer (usually upon their delivery and acceptance by him) and when the 
collection of the related amounts is reasonably assured. 
 
Revenues are recognised using the following procedure: 
 
 Recognise the contract primarily in relation to evaluation of the counterparty’s 

creditworthiness. 

 Identify the performance obligations. (Separating the delivery of goods from any other 
services, guarantees, benefits agreed) 

 Identify the transaction price (taking into account any guarantees, penalties, incentives, etc.) 

 Allocate the transaction price to the obligations (allocate based on individual sale prices for 
each good or service) 

 Identify the revenue when (or as) the Group meets the delivery obligation 

Revenue from the provision of services is recognised in the accounting period in which the 
services are rendered, on the basis of the stage in completion of the service compared to the 
overall service. 
 
Revenues under operating leases are recognised using the straight-line method over the 
duration of the lease. 
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Income from interest is recognised using the effective interest method. Revenues from dividends 
are recognised in the income statement when the right to collect them has vested. 
 
4.4.16. Dividend distribution 
 
Dividends to Company shareholders are entered in the financial statements as a liability for the 
period in which Management’s proposal for distribution is approved by the annual Ordinary 
General Meeting of Shareholders. 
 
4.4.17. Financial assets and liabilities 
 
Classification and initial measurement 
At initial recognition financial assets are classed in two categories, one where valuation is done 
at the carrying amount and one where valuation is done at fair value. The criteria which must be 
taken into account in order to decide on how financial assets are to be initially categorised are 
as follows: 
 
i. The business model used by the business to manage such assets. There are 3 types of 

business models: 
 
 The business model where the objective is to hold financial instruments to collect the 

contractual cash flows (hold to collect) 
 The business model where the goal is achieved either by collecting the contractual cash 

flow or by selling the financial assets (hold to collect and sell) 
 Other business models 

 
ii. The characteristics of the instruments’ contractual cash flows. 
In order for a financial instrument to be classed as valued at the carrying amount, all the following 
criteria must be met: 
 

 The instrument must be under a business model where the objective is to hold financial 
instruments to collect the contractual cash flows 

 The contractual terms governing the asset must exclusively seek cash flows of principal 
and interest on the unpaid principal which must be paid on specific dates (known as 
Solely Payments of Principal and Interest- SPPI) 

 
If an instrument meets such criteria but is held both for sale and to collection of contractual cash 
flows, it must be classed in the ‘valued at fair value’ category through other results entered 
directly in equity. 
 
Instruments not falling into any of the two classification categories must be valued at fair value 
through profit and loss. 
 
Subsequent measurement of financial assets 
For measurement purposes the Group divides financial assets into the following categories: 
 
(a) financial assets valued at the carrying amount (primarily non-interest-bearing receivables 

from customers) and 
(b) financial assets valued at fair value through profit and loss (primarily investments in equity 

instruments for profit) 
 
The following rules apply to these categories: 
 
(a) Financial assets valued at the carrying amount (loans and receivables) 
This category includes instruments which meet the following requirements: 
 

 They are under a business model where the objective is to hold financial instruments to 
collect the contractual cash flows 

 The contractual terms governing the asset must refer to the Solely Payments of Principal 
and Interest- SPPI, which must be paid on specific dates 
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This category is valued at the carrying amount using the effective interest rate model and is 
periodically examined for signs of expected impairment losses. 
 
It includes current assets unless their effective term is over 12 months from the date on which 
the financial statements are prepared, and management’s intention is to hold them for a longer 
period until they mature. 
 
 
(b) Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss 
This category includes financial assets: 
 
i. Which there is an intention to sell within a short period in order to capitalise on short-term 

market fluctuations (commercial portfolio). The Group places a limited number of shares in 
this category 

ii. Which do not meet the classification criteria for some other category 
iii. Which the Group chose at initial valuation to value at fair value by transferring the difference 

arising to the results. Such an irrevocable choice can be made when in doing so eliminates 
any accounting asymmetry which arises from valuation of such financial assets in a different 
way (such as carrying cost) compared to related financial instruments (such as derivatives, 
which are valued at fair value through profit and loss) 
 
Assets in this category are classed as current assets. 

 

Subsequent measurement of financial liabilities 

To measure financial liabilities the Group values them at the carrying amount. 

(a) Financial liabilities valued at the carrying amount 

These liabilities bear interest using the effective interest rate method.  

This category includes liabilities to credit institutions and customers, and bonds issued by the 
Group and other loan obligations. 

Impairment of financial assets 

When  the financial statements are prepared, the Group recognises impairment for expected 
credit risk losses for customer receivables. Such  investments are valued at fair value through 
profit and loss. 

At the end of each period for which financial statements are prepared, the Group assesses 
whether there are signs that a financial asset or a group of financial assets has been impaired. 

Signs of impairment can include the fact that debtors or a group of debtors face serious financial 
difficulties, an inability to pay interest or the principal, the probability that they will become 
bankrupt or engage in some other form of financial restructuring, and where there are observable 
data which indicate that there is a measurable reduction in the estimated future cash flows.  

If in a subsequent period the impairment figure reduces and the reduction can be objectively 
correlated to an event after initial recognition of the impairment (such as an improvement in the 
debtor’s creditworthiness) the reversal of the previously recognised impairment loss is 
recognised in the income statement. 

Impairment is based on expected credit risk losses associated with the probability of default 
within the next 12 months, unless there is a major increase in credit risk from the time of initial 
recognition, where the expected credit risk losses are recognised over the instrument's entire 
life. 

For impairment measurement purposes, the Group divides financial assets into the following 
categories based on credit risk: 
 
(a) Stage 1: This includes performing credit facilities which have no major rise in credit risks 

compared to the date of initial recognition. In this stage the expected credit risk losses are 
recognised based on the probability of default over the next 12 months. 
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(b) Stage 2: This includes performing credit facilities where there has been a major increase in 
the credit risk since initial recognition. In this stage, expected credit risk losses are recognised 
over the instrument’s entire life. 

(c) Stage 3 includes non-performing/impaired credit facilities. In this stage, expected credit risk 
losses are recognised over the instrument’s entire life. 

 
A major increase in credit risk arises by comparing the risk of default on the reporting date 
against the risk of default on the initial recognition date for all performing credit facilities, including 
credit facilities which have no past-due days. 
 
Derecognition of financial assets 
Financial assets (or a part of a financial asset or part of a group of financial assets, as 
appropriate) cease to be recognised when: 
 
 The rights to an inflow of cash resources have expired or 
 The Group retains the right to an inflow of cash resources from a specific asset but has 

simultaneously undertaken an obligation to a third party to fully pay them without major 
delay, in the form of a transfer agreement or 

 The Group has transferred the right to an inflow of cash from a specific asset and at the 
same time has: (a) either materially transferred all risks and rewards of ownership or (b) has 
not materially transferred all risk and rewards of ownership but has transferred control over 
the specific asset 

 
Where the Group has transferred the rights to an inflow of cash resources from a specific asset 
but at the same time has not materially transferred all risks and rewards or control of the specific 
asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement in the asset. 
A corresponding liability is also recognised. 
 
Continuing involvement in the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is valued at either 
the initial value of the asset and the maximum amount the Group may be called to pay, whichever 
is lower. 
 
Derecognition of financial liabilities 
A financial liability ceases to be recognised when the relevant obligation is cancelled or has 
expired. Where a financial liability is replaced by another one from the same lender with 
materially different terms, or where the terms of an existing obligation have materially changed, 
the swap or change is considered to be derecognition of the initial obligation and recognition of 
a new obligation. The difference with current values is recognised in the income statement. 
 
4.4.18. Borrowing cost 
General borrowing costs and the borrowing costs assumed specifically for the purchase, 
construction or production of an asset, which meet the conditions, are capitalised in the cost of 
the asset until the asset is in effect ready for use or sale.  
An asset which meets the conditions is an asset which requires an extensive time period to be 
ready for intended use or sale. The Group considers that a time period of over 4 months is an 
extensive time period. 
All other borrowing costs are expensed in the income statement as incurred. Borrowing costs 
consist of the interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of 
funds. 
 
4.4.19. Trade payables 
Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services acquired from suppliers in the normal 
course of the Group’s business. 
Trade payables are recorded as short-term liabilities where payment is made within 1 year 
(and/or more if the time period is part of the Group’s normal operating cycle). If not, they are 
presented as long-term liabilities. 
Trade payables are initially recognised at fair value and are subsequently measured at the 
carrying amount using the effective interest rate method. 
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4.4.20. Functional and reporting currency 
Information in the Group’s financial statements is measured in euro, the local currency used in 
the country which it primarily operates, and which is also its functional currency. 
FX transactions are converted to the functional currency using exchange rates (current 
exchange rates) on the date of each transaction or the valuation date when assets are revalued.  
Exchange rate differences (gains or losses) arising from settlement of such transactions and 
from conversion into monetary items at the end of the year from the foreign currency to the 
functional currency are entered in the Income Statement. 

4.5. Important accounting estimates and judgements 

The preparation of financial statements requires the Management to make estimates and 
assumptions, which affect the disclosures in the financial statements.  

The estimates and judgements are based on experience-based data and other factors, including 
the expectations of future events which are considered reasonable under specific 
circumstances. 

These estimates and assumptions form the basis for taking decisions about the book values of 
assets and liabilities that are not readily available from other sources. The resulting accounting 
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and 
assumptions that entail a significant risk of causing significant changes in the amounts of assets 
and liabilities within the next fiscal year are presented below. 
 
4.5.1. Impairment of non-financial assets 
Non-financial assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in situations indicate 
that their book value may not be recoverable. 
 
4.5.2. Income tax 
In order to calculate the Group’s income tax provision, subjective judgement is required. During 
the Group’s normal course of business, transactions are entered into and calculations are made, 
meaning that tax calculations are not definite. Where the final tax resulting from tax audits is 
different from the amounts initially recorded, the differences will affect the income tax and 
deferred tax forecasts in the period when the calculation of the tax differences was made. 
 
4.5.3. Deferred tax assets 
Major management assessments are needed to determine the level of deferred tax assets which 
can be recognised, based on the likely time and level of future taxable profits, coupled with the 
Group’s own tax planning. The Group has no unused tax losses.  
 
4.5.4. Useful life of tangible assets and residual values 
Tangible assets are depreciated over their estimated useful life. The actual useful life of assets 
is reassessed on an annual basis and may differ due to factors such as technological innovation 
or obsolescence, the commercial cycle of products, maintenance, i.e factors  which, among 
others, are taken into account in reassessing the lifecycle of assets. 
 
4.5.5. Estimate of the net realisable value of stocks/inventories 
The level of the net realisable value of stocks/inventories is Management’s best possible 
estimate based on historical sales trends and its view about the quality and volume of 
stocks/inventories to the extent that available stocks/inventories on the balance sheet date will 
be sold below cost. 
 
4.5.6. Provision for doubtful debts 
On each date the financial statements are prepared, the Group recognises impairment for 
expected credit risk losses for customer receivables.  
To that end, it assesses whether there are signs of impairment, measures impairment based on 
the expected credit risk losses (likelihood of default within the next 12 months), assesses 
whether there is a major rise in credit risk from initial recognition and based on that information 
classifies the financial assets in one of three stages.  
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4.5.7. Provision for staff compensation 
Obligations to compensate staff are calculated based using actuarial methods at the net value 
of the defined benefit obligation, the normal cost of current employment and, where appropriate, 
the cost of past service. This is done using the projected unit credit method (IAS 19). 

That method requires management to assess specific factors such as the future increase in 
employee pay, the discounting rate for such obligations, the employee turnover rate, etc. 
Management reassesses such assumptions on each reporting date. 

 
4.5.8. Contingent liabilities 
The existence of contingent liabilities requires Management to constantly apply assumptions and 
make value judgements about the likelihood of future events occurring or not occurring and about 
the impact that such events could have on the Group’s activities. 

 
4.5.9. The going concern assumption 
Management assesses the Group’s financial position in relation to the risks the Group faces, its 
capital adequacy and any major uncertainties relating to the Group's ability to continue operating 
in the foreseeable future, and in particular for at least 12 months from the date on which the 
financial statements are approved.  

Management considers that the financial statements can safely be prepared on the basis that it 
is a going concern, since there are no major uncertainties in relation to the Group’s ability to 
continue to operate in the foreseeable future at least. 
 
4.6. Financial risk management 
 
4.6.1 Financial risk factors 
 
The Group is exposed to financial risks primarily due to the nature and geographical spread of 
its markets and sales. 
The Group's financial risk factors are managed by Management to minimise the potentially 
unfavourable impacts of market fluctuations on the Group’s financial performance. 
 
a) Liquidity risk 
In addition to operating cash flows, the Group holds adequate cash reserves and other liquid 
assets such as credit facilities with banks in order to ensure it can discharge its financial 
obligations. 
 
The table below summarises the maturity dates for financial obligations as at 31 December 2021 
and 2020 based on payments deriving from the relevant contracts at non-discounted prices. 
 
2020 Up to 6 

months 
6 to 12 

months 
1 -5 years Over 5 

years 
Total 

Liabilities € € € € € 
Loans 10,936,288 - 1,705,883 - 12,642,171 
Loans from shareholders - - 6,960,887 - 6,960,887 
Short-term portion of long-term loans 106,587 - - - 106,587 
Lease liabilities 273,382 - 360,014 - 633,396 
Trade payables 6,641,250 - - - 6,641,250 
Income tax 2,093,644 - - - 2,093,644 
Other taxes and duties 121,956 - - - 121,956 
Social security providers 219,797 - - - 219,797 
Other liabilities 1,849,552 - - - 1,849,552 
Net Book Value on 31/12/2020 22,242,457 - 9,026,784 - 31,269,241 
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2021 Up to 6 

months 
6 to 12 

months 
1 -5 years Over 5 

years 
Total 

Liabilities € € € € € 
Loans 8,922,898 - 6,239,797 1,300,306 16,463,001 
Short-term portion of long-term loans 717,536 - - - 717,536 
Lease liabilities 281,350 - 815,417 - 1,096,767 
Trade payables 6,915,631 - - - 6,915,631 
Income tax 4,296,230 - - - 4,296,230 
Other taxes and duties 313,663 - - - 131,663 
Social security providers 209,488 - - - 209,488 
Other liabilities 7,719,684 - - - 7,719,684 
Net Book Value on 31/12/2021 29,376,480 - 7,055,214 1,300,306 37,550,000 
 

Borrowing includes the balances of loans (unpaid principal) including interest at a fixed and 
variable rate to maturity. 

The Group does not face liquidity risks since its working capital is sufficient to meet its needs. 

 
b) Market risk 
Market risk consists of 3 main risks, being FX risk, Price risk (such as the price of goods risk) 
and interest rate risk. 
 
Group exposure to exchange rate risk derives primarily from existing or expected cash flows in 
foreign currency (imports/exports) and from foreign investments. 
 
b.1) Exchange rate risk 
The Group enters into transactions in foreign currencies both when selling and buying goods 
and so is exposed to such risk.  
 
When purchasing from foreign firms, the main transactional currency is the USD. Although there 
are fluctuations in the EUR/USD exchange rate, this had no major impact on the results for the 
period. Moreover, the Group uses FX derivatives (options-forwards) to hedge the risk of changes 
in exchange rates. 
 
FX changes sensitivity analysis 
The table below shows changes to Group earnings before tax and equity in the case of potential 
changes in USD exchange rates since that is the currency in which the Group primarily does 
business other than the Euro, keeping all other variables unchanged. 
 
Changes include monetary assets and liabilities relevant to Euro - USD exchange rates. 
 
The table was prepared on the assumption that on 31 December 2021 the exchange rate would 
be 10% different from the actual one. The Impact on EBT and equity was as follows: 
 
(Amounts in €) Fluctuation  Fluctuation   

+10%   -10% +10%   -10%  
USD USD  
2021 2020  

Effect on “Earnings before taxes” 342,869 (342,869) 148,575 (148,575)
Effect on Equity 342,869 (342,869) 148,575 (148,575)
 
Financial assets/liabilities in FX 
 

 2021 2020 
   

Financial assets in FX 9,275,662 4,227,383 
Financial liabilities in FX 5,331,732 2,437,312 
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B.2) Price risk - stocks/inventories / services purchase prices and selling prices 
The Group is exposed to changes in the value of raw materials/merchandise to a limited degree. 
The risk to the Group from changes in the price of commodities in minimal.  
 
The Group checks for any impairment of its stocks/inventories and other assets, and if there are 
signs and there are grounds for obsolescence, the Group applies the relevant impairments so 
that the value in the financial statements always matches the actual value. 
 
As for selling prices, the Group enters into binding sales agreements at fixed prices, and so there 
is no price risk in relation to sales and receivables. 
 
b.3) Interest rate risk  
Due to the fact that the Group does not have significant interest-bearing assets, its operating 
income and cash flows are materially independent of changes in interest rates.  
 
The Group has loan obligations. Where there are loans, the loan repayment terms, including the 
borrowing rates, are negotiated with banks. Consequently, the level of interest and the interest 
rate applied are not freely adjustable, but are negotiated. 
 
The interest-bearing financial liabilities on 31/12/2020 and 31/12/2021 respectively are shown in 
the table below: 
  2021 2020 
 € € 
Long term loans 7,540,103 1,705,883 
Short term loans 8,922,898 10,936,288 
Short-term portion of long-term loans 717,536 106,587 
Bank loans 17,180,537 12,748,758 
Long term lease liabilities   
Short term lease liabilities 815,417 360,014 
Lease Liabilities 281,350 273,382 
Total of interest-bearing liabilities 1,096,767 633,396 
   
 18,277,304 13,382,154 
 
Interest rate changes sensitivity analysis 
 
The impacts of variations in interest rates on the Group’s operating results and operating cash 
flows are limited as can be seen from the following sensitivity analysis: 
 
Interest rate risk 
 Fluctuation Fluctuation 
 +100 -100 +100 -100 
 Base units Base units 
 2021 2020 
 € € € € 
Effect on Earnings before taxes (101,035) 101,035 (45,834) 45,834 
Effect on equity (101,035) 101,035 (45,834) 45,834 
 
c) Credit risk 
The Group provides goods and services solely to recognised, solvent counterparties.  
 
It is Group policy that all clients to whom goods and services are provided on credit must undergo 
credit checks. In addition, trade receivables are constantly monitored to minimise risk from bad 
debt.  
 
As far as the credit risk from other financial assets of the Group is concerned (cash and cash 
equivalents), the risk derives from failure to comply with the counterparty’s contractual terms, 
and maximum exposure to risk is equal to the book value of the instruments concerned. 
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Group exposure to credit risk is limited to the financial assets (instruments) which on the balance 
sheet date can be broken down as follows: 
 
 2021 2020 
 € € 
Cash and cash equivalents 26,096,448 14,632,284 
Trade receivables 15,841,677 6,779,237 
Other Receivables 2,709,585 2,889,362 
Other financial assets 397,378 333,608 
Net book value 45,045,088 24,634,491 
 
In relation to trade and other receivables, the Group is not exposed to significant credit risks.  
 
 
d) Capital risk - Capital management 
The aim in managing capital risk is to ensure that the Group remains a going concern so that 
there are satisfactory returns for shareholders, to keep a satisfactory capital structure and to 
reduce the cost of capital. 
 
The primary objective in managing the Group’s capital is to maintain sound capital indicators to 
support its operations and maximise value for shareholders. 
 
Management takes a conservative approach to managing the capital structure using the gearing 
ratio, as is clear from the total liabilities / total equity ratio. 
 
Maintaining or adjusting the capital structure can be done by adjusting the size of dividends paid 
to shareholders, by returning share capital to shareholders, by issuing new shares or by selling 
off assets to reduce borrowing. 
The Group’s gearing ratio on 31 December 2020 and 2021 was as follows: 
 2021 2020 
 € € 
Long term loan obligations 8,355,520 9,026,784 
Short term loan obligations 9,921,784 11,316,257 
Total debt 18,277,304 20,343,041 
Less: Cash and cash equivalents (26,096,448) (14,632,285) 
Net borrowing (7,819,144) 5,710,756 
Equity 33,845,212 14,618,483 
Total capital employed 26,026,068 20,329,239 

Gearing ratio (30.04)% 28.3% 
 
Management monitors capital using the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated by dividing net 
borrowing by total capital employed. 
Net borrowing is calculated as total borrowing (short-term and long-term) less cash and cash 
equivalents.  
Total capital employed is calculated as equity as shown in the statement of changes in equity 
plus net borrowing. 
The Group is not exposed to capital risk since the key liquidity indicators for the last 2 periods 
have revealed it has high liquidity and adequate working capital despite the existence of loans. 
 
4.7. Fair value measurement 
The Group uses the following scale to determine and disclose the fair value of assets and 
liabilities for each valuation technique: 

Level 1: Negotiable (non-adjusted) prices on active markets for similar assets or liabilities. 

Level 2: Other techniques for which all data with a major impact on fair value is visible, either 
directly or indirectly, and includes valuation techniques employing negotiable prices 
on less active markets for similar or identical assets or liabilities. 

Level 3: Techniques that use data with a major impact on fair value not based on observable 
market data. 
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The table below shows the fair value rankings of the Group’s assets and liabilities on 31/12/2020 
and 31/12/2021: 

   Fair value 
 2021  2020  Scale 
Assets € €  
Other financial assets 397,378  333,608 Level1 

 
During the year there were no transfers from within or outside level 3 when measuring fair value. 
Other financial assets relate to investments in shares in companies listed on the Athens 
Exchange and in particular in shares of National Bank acquired for € 251,050, shares of Hellenic 
Petroleum acquired for € 102,312 and shares in the Piraeus Port Authority acquired for € 67,173. 
Cumulative impairments of € 86,927 have been made on these investments. 
 
Management considers that the figures for the cash assets and short-term deposits, customers, 
suppliers, and other short-term liabilities accounts approximate their actual book value primarily 
because they mature in the short-term. 
 
 
5.1. Turnover 
 2021 2020 
 € € 
Receivables from the sale of products & merchandise 79,925,145 53,917,671 
Revenues from services rendered 632,675 301,910 
Net Book Value 80,557,820 54,219,581 
 
5.2 Cost of goods sold 
 2021 2020 
 € € 
Purchases consumption 36,139,105 28,951,453 
Staff salaries and expenses 4,809,959 2,071,230 
Third party fees and expenses 5,055,754 4,551,950 
Subcontracting fees 240,074 123,115 
Miscellaneous expenses 215,916 489,861 
Depreciation 452,272 603,439 
Net book value 46,913,079 36,791,048 
 
5.3 Other Revenues 
 2021 2020 
 € € 
Rental income 100,054 20,165 
Income from grants - subsidies 45,056 - 
Miscellaneous other income 16,863 28,089 
Net book value 161,973 48,254 
 
5.4 Administrative expenses 
 2021 2020 
 € € 
Staff salaries and expenses 1,686,178 1,301,328 
Third party fees and expenses 1,481,455 775,749 
Charges for outside services 301,902 263,875 
Taxes and duties 60,397 134,963 
Miscellaneous Expenses 1,128,828 911,932 
Depreciation 626,927 476,475 
Net book value 5,286,284 3,864,322 
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5.5 Selling expenses 
 2021 2020 
 € € 
Staff salaries and expenses 406,681 499,329 
Third party fees and expenses 165,392 166,080 
Miscellaneous Expenses 919,526 590,379 
Depreciation 39,284 - 
Net book value 1,530,883 1,255,788 
 
5.6 Research & Development expenses 
 2021 2020 
 € € 
Staff salaries and expenses 1,094,222 851,881 
Third party fees and expenses 154,813 129,314 
Miscellaneous Expenses 62,653 76,979 
Depreciation 170,756 37,065 
Net book value 1,482,444 1,095,239 
 
5.7 Other Expenses and Losses & Impairment of Assets 
 2021 2020 
 € € 

Foreign exchange losses 184,199 689,187 
Other expenses 149,658 64,167 
Impairment of financial assets 129,678 213,388 
Net book value 463,535 966,742 
 
5.8 Other income and profits 
 2021 2020 
 € € 
Foreign exchange gains 74,138 752,539 
Profits (losses) on disposal of non-current assets 39,888 - 
Profits from unrealised bad debt provisions 100,358 3,856 
Depreciation of asset grants 985 985 
Profits (losses) fair value measurements 71,634 - 
Miscellaneous Expenses 76,949 84,007 
Net book value 363,952 841,387 
 
5.9 Financing (Expenses)/Income 
 2021 2020 
 € € 
Credit interest and related income 170 1,832 
   
Debit interest of bank loans (481,077) (487,847) 
Interest on lease liabilities (17,455) (15,774) 
Financial cost of discounting liability for post-employment benefits (820) (3,330) 
Effect of change in accounting policy (IAS19) - (1,943) 
Interest charges and related expenses (17) - 
 (499,369) (508,894) 
   
Other banking charges unrelated to financing (593,322) (625,414) 
Related finance expenses - (22,431) 
Interest expense and related expenses (1,092,691) (1,156,739) 
Interest grants due to Covid 19 - 190,509 
Net book value (1,092,521) (964,398) 
 
5.10 Income tax 
 2021 2020 
 € € 
Corporation tax - Current year 5,304,286 2,857,861 
Corporation tax - Previous year (101,221) - 
Deferred tax – (Credit)/Debit (Note 5.15) 48,779 (131,950) 
Effect of change in accounting policy (IAS19) - 14,181 
Provisions and other taxes - 1,600 
Net book value 5,251,844 2,741,692 
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5.10 Income tax (continued) 
 
 2021 2020 
 € € 
Recognition of tax liability / (gain)   
In profit and loss statement 5,251,557 2,742,039 
In other comprehensive income 287 (347) 
Tax charge 5,251,844 2,741,692 
 
Regarding the Greek Subsidiary “Theon Sensors – Single Member SA”:  
 
The tax rate on profits from the business activity of legal persons in Greece for the year 2021 
based on Article 120 of Law No. 4799/2021 amounts to 22% (17 May 2021) (2020: 24%). 
 
The Greek Subsidiary has obtained tax compliance certificates with unqualified opinion by its 
certified auditor for each fiscal year from 2011 up to and including 2020 according to Greek tax 
laws (years 2011-2013 pursuant to the provisions of Article 82 of Law No. 2238/1994 and years 
2014-2020 pursuant to the provisions of Article 65Α of Law No. 4174/2013).  
 
The Greek Subsidiary does not expect additional taxes and surcharges to occur in the context 
of the audit of the Greek tax authorities for the years 2016 up to 2021. Accordingly, based on 
risk analysis criteria and as part of the audits carried out on companies that have received tax 
compliance certificates with unqualified opinion by a certified auditor, the Company may be 
selected by the Greek tax authorities for a tax audit.  
 
The Greek Subsidiary was audited by the tax authority (Large Enterprises Audit Centre) for the 
2014, 2015 and 2016 accounting periods, following audit instructions sent to it at the end of May 
2018. That audit is still under way (note 5.23) and the Company has not received any other audit 
instruction from the tax authorities for the fiscal years 2017 to 2021. 
 
It is noted that on 31.12.2021 the fiscal years up to 31.12.2015 were written off, in accordance 
with the provisions of Article 36(1) of Law No. 4174/2013. 
 
The tax audit for the year 2021 is currently in progress, and the Management does not expect a 
substantial change in the tax liabilities for this year. The audit is expected to be completed after 
the financial statements for this period have been published. Upon completion of this tax audit, 
the Subsidiary’s Management does not expect to incur any tax liabilities other than those entered 
and reflected in the Financial Statements.  
 
The management considers that should tax authorities re-audit the Company, there will be no 
additional tax adjustments which significantly impact the financial statements. 
 
5.11 Earnings per share 
 
 2021 2020 
   
Net profit for period €19,063,442 €7,429,646 
Average weighted no. of issued ordinary shares  200,000 200,000 
Basic and diluted earnings per share €95.32 €37.15 
 
Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net profits corresponding to ordinary 
shareholders by the average weighted number of ordinary shares in issue over the year. 
 
The Company has not issued preference shares nor has it issued other financial instruments 
such as stock options or debentures convertible to ordinary shares. 
 
Consequently, both the basic earnings per share and the diluted earnings per share are the 
same.  
 
For the purposes of these consolidated financial statements the weighted average number of 
issued ordinary shares of 200,000 that were issued on 13 September 2021 was used for both 
years. 
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5.12 Tangible Assets 
 
 Properties Right to use 

properties 
Mechanical 
equipment 

Right to use 
cars 

Other 
equipment 

Total  

Acquisition cost € € € € € € 
Acquisition cost /1/2020 5,809,235 995,614 4,296,395 357,583 3,175,051 14,633,878 
Additions 189,139 156,619 530,374 95,632 264,344 1,236,108 
Disposals - - - - - - 
Reductions - (515,870) - - - (515,870) 
Acquisition cost 31/12/2020 – 
1/1/2021 

 
5,998,374 

 
636,363 

 
4,826,769 

 
453,215 

 
3,439,395 

 
15,354,116 

Additions 2,353,071 674,308 953,369 69,961 512,287 4,562,726 
Disposals - - - - - - 
Reductions - (156,619) (135,729) (18,339) (84,669) (395,356) 
Acquisition cost 31/12/2021 6,860,117 1,154,052 5,644,409 504,567 3,867,013 18,030,158 
       
Depreciation / Impairment       
Depreciation 1/1/2020 (1,985,830) (702,963) (2,636,599) (127,855) (2,270,353) (7,723,600) 
Depreciation for the year (308,878) (113,599) (292,289) (64,098) (246,026) (1,024,890) 
On sales - - - - - - 
Reductions - - - 20,280 - 20,280 

Depreciation 1/1/2021 
 

(2,211,607) 
 

(354,191) 
 

(2,934,515) 
 

(131,623) 
 

(2,460,444) 
 

(8,092,380) 
Depreciation for the year (245,222) (174,555) (370,458) (106,519) (225,598) (1,122,352) 
On sales - - - -  - 
Reductions - 156,619 123,186 18,339 71,846 369,990 
Depreciation on 31/12/2021 (2,456,830) (372,126) (3,181,787) (219,803) (2,614,196) (8,844,742) 
       
Net book value 31/12/2020 3,786,767 282,172 1,892,254 321,592 978,951 7,261,736 
       
Net book value 31/12/2021 4,403,287 781,926 2,462,622 284,764 1,252,817 9,185,416 

 

During 2021, part of the property on 62 Ioanni Metaxa St., worth € 1,491,328 was transferred to 
investment property, which the company leases to related parties. 

The following encumbrances have been registered on the Company’s assets: 

The following collateral has been registered in favour of National Bank of Greece: 

A first mortgage prenotation on the plot situated at 57 Ioannou Metaxa St., Koropi, Attica and 
the industrial building thereon for € 960,000.00, to secure bank loan whose total outstanding 
balance as at 31 December 2021 was € 705,884. The loan was be fully repaid at the end of 
March and all the necessary actions were taken to release the mortgage prenotation. 

The following collateral has been registered in favour of Piraeus Bank: 

A first mortgage prenotation on the plot situated at 62 Ioannou Metaxa St., Koropi, Attica and 
the industrial building thereon for € 2,000,000 to secure bank loan whose total outstanding 
balance as at 31 December 2021 was € 2,000,000.
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5.13 Intangible assets 

 Development Other Total 
 Costs Intangibles  
Acquisition cost € € € 
Acquisition cost 1/1/2020 2,378,666 1,260,933 3,639,599 
Additions - 75,686 75,686 
Disposals - - - 
Acquisition cost 31/12/2020 2,378,666 1,336,619 3,715,285 
Additions - 106,527 106,527 
Disposals - - - 
Acquisition cost 31/12/2021 2,378,666 1,443,146 3,821,812 
    
Depreciation / Impairment    
Total amortisation / impairment (2,082,299) (887,283) (2,969,582) 
Amortisation for the year (48,901) (112,984) (161,885) 
Cumulative impairment on 1/1/2020 - - - 
Impairment for the year - - - 
Total amortisation / impairment (2,131,200) (1,000,267) (3,131,467) 
Amortisation for the year (55,123) (111,764) (166,887) 
Cumulative amortisation 1/1/2021 - - - 
Impairment for the year - - - 
Total amortisation / impairment (2,186,323) (1,112,031) (3,298,354) 
    
Net book value 31/12/2020 247,466 336,352 583,818 
Net book value 31/12/2021 192,343 331,115 523,458 
    
 
5.14 Other long-term Receivables 
 2021 2020 
 € € 
Investment in in “Hellenic Photonics” - 1,000 
Guarantees granted 103,922 96,347 
Net book value 103,922 97,347 
 
5.15 Deferred Tax Asset 
 2021 2020 
 € € 
Asset / (liability) on 1/1 221,000 143,789 
Effect in change of accounting policy (IAS19) - (40,558) 
 221,000 103,231 
Tax Income / (Charge) :   
In income statement: (48,779) 121,849 
Effect in change of accounting policy (IAS19) - (4,427) 
   
In other comprehensive income (287) 10,101 
Effect in change of accounting policy (IAS19) - (9,754) 
Asset / (Liability) on 31/12 54,047 221,000 
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5.16 Stocks/inventories 
 
2020 
 

Finished/ 
work in 

progress 

Raw 
materials 

Down 
payments & 

other 
inventories 

Total 

Inventories on 31/12/2020 4,111,181 9,713,186 53,820 13,878,187 
Accumulated impairment on 1/1/2020 - - - - 
Impairment for the period (390,191) (140,710) - (530,901) 
Net book value on 31/12/2020 3,720,990 9,572,476 53,820 13,347,286 

 
2021 
 

Finished/ 
work in 

progress 

Raw 
materials 

Down 
payments & 

other 
inventories 

Total 

Inventories on 31/12/2021 4,765,886 8,459,104 2,871,060 16,096,050 
Accumulated impairment on 1/1/2021 (390,191) (140,710) - (530,901) 

Impairment for the period (66,817) (101,459) - (34,642) 

Net book value on 31/12/2021 4,442,512 8,216,935 2,871,060 15,530,507 
 
 
5.17 Financial assets and prepayments 
 
2020 
 

Trade 
receivables 

Other 
receivables 

Other 
financial 

assets 

Total 

 € € € € 
Receivables on 31/12/2020 7,186,505 2,889,362 420,535 10,496,402 
Accumulated impairment on 1/1/2020 (287,028) - (48,478) (335,506) 
Change in impairment during the year (120,240) - (38,449) (158,689) 
 (407,268) - (86,927) (494,195) 
Net book value on 31/12/2020 6,779,237 2,889,362 333,608 10,002,207 

 
2021 
 

Trade 
receivables 

Other 
receivables 

Other 
financial 

assets 

Total 

 € € € € 
Receivables on 31/12/2021 16,258,374 2,709,585 432,558 19,400,517 

Accumulated impairment on 1/1/2021 (407,268) - (86,927) (494,195) 
Change in impairment during the year (9,429) - 51,747 42,318 
 (416,697) - (35,180) (451,877) 
Net book value on 31/12/2021 15,841,677 2,709,585 397,378 18,948,640 
     
 
The “Other Receivables” account includes amounts relating to income tax credit, VAT credit, 
amounts blocked for imports (cash guarantees) and various amounts from “Other debtors” in 
euro. 
 
The “Other Financial Assets” account relates to the investment participations in the Greek 
organisations PPA, HELPE and National Bank of Greece, which were valued at their fair value. 
 
The overall impairment of trade receivables on 31/12/2021 amounted at € 416,697 (31/12/2020: 
€407,266) and relates to additional provisions for customers whose balance of receivables was 
past due by more than 360 days. 
 
The trade receivables account does not bear interest and is normally settled within a period of 0 
to 120 days. Provisions for impairment have been formed for customer balances not in arrears 
for more than 1 year from the contractual payment date and such provisions are considered 
adequate.  
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5.18 Cash and cash equivalents 
 2021 2020 
 € € 
Cash in hand 10,359 300,633 
Sight deposits in euro 25,177,070 13,456,221 
Sight deposits in foreign currency 909,018 875,430 
Net book value   26,096,448 14,632,284 

 
Cash and cash equivalents meet the Group’s needs. 
 
5.19 Paid-up capital & reserves 
 2021 2020 
 € € 
Share Capital 200,000 200,000 
Reserves mandated by law or the articles of association 3,603,943 3,603,943 

Statutory reserve 1,781,154 1,391,641 

Rounding differences 184 2,404 

Other comprehensive income 4,408,342 2,148,070 
Retained earnings  55,156,162 36,626,303 
Consolidation reserve (31,304,573) (29,353,878) 

Net book value   33,845,212 14,618,483 
 
The authorised and issued share capital of the company amounts to €200,000 and is comprised 
of 200,000 ordinary shares with nominal value of €1,00  each.  All issued shares are fully settled. 
 
Developments in the share capital 

a) On 13 September 2021 the Extraordinary General Meeting of the Company unanimously 
resolved to issue 199,000 ordinary shares of nominal value €1,00 each which were subsequently 
exchanged for the acquisition of Theon Sensors AG.  More specifically 199,000 ordinary shares 
were offered to the shareholders of Theon Sensors AG for the acquisition of 100% of the issued 
share capital i.e., 204,082 shares issued and fully paid shares. 

 
5.20 Provisions for Employee Benefits 
 2021 2020 
 € € 
Defined benefit liability on 1/1  136,744 289,586 
Effect in change of accounting policy (IAS19) - (168,994) 
Defined benefit liability on 31/12 136,744 120,592 
   
Statement of financial position   
Benefits paid  (12,830) (9,913) 
 (12,830) (9,913) 
Statement of Profit and Loss   
Current employment costs 38,606 39,732 
Effect in change of accounting policy (IAS19) - (16,500) 
Interest expense 820 3,330 
Effect in change of accounting policy (IAS19) - (1,943) 
 39,426 24,619 
   
Statement of Other Comprehensive Income   
Actuarial losses / (gains) (1,305) 42,088 
Effect in change of accounting policy (IAS19) - (40,642) 
 (1,305) 1,446 
   
Defined benefit liability on 31/12 162,035 136,744 
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5.20 Provisions for Employee Benefits (continued) 
 
The actuarial estimate of obligations has been prepared in accordance with the relevant 
legislation in Greece and relates to the Greek Subsidiary as it arises from the requirements of 
the Laws 2112/1920 and 3026/1954 and amended by Laws 4093/2012, 4336/2015 and 
4194/2013. 
 
They are pension benefits specified in the relevant legislation paid once the employee retires. 
Greek labour law provides for compensation when one retires from work. The amount is based 
on length of service at the company, taking into account the pay on the date of departure. 
Compensation for retirement is not funded from special funds.  
 
The company has not developed a special benefits plan for employees other than those specified 
in the relevant legislation, which must be paid to all employees who leave the company. 
 
The present value of the defined benefit obligation, the normal cost of current employee and, 
where appropriate, the cost of past service are calculated using the projected unit credit method 
(IAS 19). 
 
During 2021 and based on a decision of the International Financial Reporting Standards 
Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) on the application of IAS 19 to this actuarial liability, the 
actuarial liability was allocated in such a way that it is now recognised only in relation to the last 
16 years of service before retirement. Before the Board of Director's decision was issued, the 
Company applied IAS 19 attributing the benefits under Article 8 of Law No. 3198/1955, and Law 
No. 2112/1920, as amended by Law No. 4093/2012, to the period from the hire date to the 
retirement date of employees. 

The effect of the IFRIC decision was recognised as a Change in Accounting Policy in accordance 
with IAS 8 "Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors" and was 
recognised retrospectively in accordance with the provisions of paragraphs 19-22 of IAS 8. The 
change in accounting policy was applied retrospectively as of 1/1/2020. As such, the starting 
balance of each affected equity for the older of the presented periods and the other comparative 
amounts for each previous period presented as if the new accounting policy had always been in 
use were adjusted accordingly. 

Assumptions 

That method requires Management to assess specific factors such as the future increase in employee pay, 
discounting rate for such liabilities, employee turnover rate, etc. Management reassesses those assumptions on 
each reporting date. 

Financial assumptions  
 2021 2020 
Discount rate 0.750% 0.60% 
Expected future salary increases 2.00% 2.00% 
Inflation 1.80% 1.50% 
 
Demographic assumptions  
 
The basic assumption was that the turnover rate in the period between the end of the year and 
the time of retirement would be zero, and for other demographic assumptions the actuarial tables 
in the EVK 2000 framework were used. 

On 31.12.2021 the Group employed a staff of 183 persons (31.12.2020: 135).  
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5.20 Provisions for Employee Benefits (continued) 
 
Cash outflow timing 
Calculation of the timing of outflows of expected nominal cash flows (without using discounting) 
in the years to come is presented in the table below: 

 Payment of 
liability 

 € 
From 0-1 years 70,966 
From 1-5 years 46,599 
From 5-10 years 88,199 
10 years or more  1.,445/615 
 1.651,379 

 
Sensitivity analysis 

We examined the sensitivity of the actuarial present value of the defined benefit obligation (DBO) 
and the forecast of normal cost (NC) of service for the following year, by changing the basic 
assumptions which were used. 

Use of a 0.5% higher discount rate would result in the present value of the actuarial obligation 
being 2% lower while, the exact opposite, use of a 0.5% lower discount rate would result in the 
present value of the actuarial obligation being 2% higher. 

The relevant sensitivity tests for the expected pay rise, namely a pay rise of 0.5% higher than 
expected would result in an actuarial obligation 2% higher, and the exact opposite, use of an 
expected pay rise 0.5% lower than expected would result in an actuarial obligation 2% lower. 

 
 Actuarial 

Liability 
Percentage 

change 
Normal cost of 

next year
Percentage 

change 
0.5% increase in the discount rate 143,248 2.0%) 20,561 (5.0%) 
0.5% increase in the discount rate 148,608 2.0% 22,720 5.0% 
0.5% increase in expected pay rise 148,560 2.0% 22,700 5.0% 
0.5% Decrease in expected pay rise 143,267 (2.0%) 20,568 (5.0%) 

 
5.21 Loans 
 
2020 

Long term 
loans 

Short term 
loans 

Short term 
portion of 
long-term 

loans 
Total Bank 

loans 

Long term 
lease 

liabilities. 

Short term 
lease 

liabilities. 
Total loan 

obligations. 
 € € € € € € € 
Amounts due on 1/1/2020 2,512,955 7,058,200 125,464 9,696,619 317,763 233,059 10,247,441 
New lease liabilities - - - - 167,418 156,619 324,037 
Disbursements 1,000,000 18,939,233 - 19,939,233 - - 19,939,233 
Capital repayments (1,694,261) (15,034,474) (125,464) (16,854,199)   (241,463) (17,095,662) 
Interest charges 58,532 433,862 - 492,394 - 15,774 508,168 
Interest repayments (45,563) (311,386) - (356,949) - (15,774) (372,723) 
Interest subsidies (19,193) (149,147) - (168,340) - - (168,340) 
Transfers between accounts (106,587) - 106,587 - (125,167) 125,167 - 
Amounts due on 31/12/2020 1,705,883 10,936,288 106,587 12,748,758 360,014 273,382 13,382,154 
 
2021 

Long term 
loans 

Short term 
loans 

Short term 
portion of 
long-term 

loans 
Total Bank 

loans 

Long term 
lease 

liabilities. 

Short term 
lease 

liabilities. 
Total loan 

obligations. 
 € € € € € € € 
Amounts due on 1/1/2021 1,705,883 10,936,288 106,587 12,748,758 360,014 273,382 13,382,154 

New lease liabilities 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 559,486 184,514 744,000 
Disbursements 6,600,000 30,871,883 - 37,471,883 - - 37,471,883 
Capital repayments (91,926) (32,881,686) (94,116) (33,067,728)   (280,629) (33,348,357) 
Interest charges 94,848 324,948 61,281 481,077 - 17,455 498,532 
Interest repayments (86,254) (328,535) (38,664) (453,453) - (17,455) (470,908) 
Transfers between accounts (682,448) - 682,448 - (104,083) 104,083 - 
Amounts due on 31/12/2021 7,540,103 8,922,898 717,536 17,180,537 815,417 281,350 18,277,304 
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5.21 Loans (continued) 
 

The Group presents interest of € 498,532 in the 2021 profit and loss statement (2020: €503,621) 
(see note 5.9). 

The lease liability as at 31 December 2021 amounting to €1,096,767 comprises of €291,789 
(2020: €332,893) relating to obligations under a car hire agreement whereas the remainder of 
€804,978 (2020: €306,698) relates to the rental of properties.  

It should also be noted that at the end of the year the Group had a claim of € zero  (2020: € 
22,169) for an interest subsidy, which has not been depicted in the above table. 

The lease liability using discounted figures (principal owed) can be broken down as follows: 
 
2020 
 

Payments 
with next 

year 

Payments 
from 

2 to 5 years 

Payments 
from 

6 to 10 years Total 
 € € € € 
Car lease liabilities 97,353 229,345 - 326,698 
Property lease liabilities 176,029 107,086 23,583 306,698 
Total principal due 273,382 336,431 23,583 633,396 
 
2021 
 

Payments 
with next 

year 

Payments 
from 

2 to 5 years 

Payments 
from 

6 to 10 years Total 
 € € € € 
Car lease liabilities 100,839 190,950 - 291,789 
Property lease liabilities 180,511 624,467 - 804,978 
Total principal due 281,350 815,417 - 1,096,767 
 
The long-term loans are also broken down into discounted amounts (capital due): 
 
2021 
 

Payments 
with next 

year 

Payments 
from 

2 to 5 years 

Payments 
from 

6 to 10 years Total 
 € € € € 
Long term loans 717,536 6,239,797 1,300,306 8,257,639 
Total loan capital 717,536 6,239,797 1,300,306 8,257,639 
 
It is noted that, in 2022, the Group has already prepaid long-term loans of €3,782,355. 
 
 
5.22 Government Grants  

  2021 2020 
 € € 
EU Grants 221,734  -  
“Quality Modernisation” Grant 152,667  - 
Other Government Grants - Unamortised 3,984  4,969  
Net book value 378,385  4,969  

 
5.23 Trade and other payables 
 2021 2020 
 € € 
EU suppliers 3,946,744 4,712,825 
Third country suppliers 2,968,887 1,928,425 
 6,915,631 6,641,250 
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5.24 Tax liabilities  
 2021 2020 
 € € 
Liability on 1/1 2,093,644 156,972 
Receivable on 1 /1 - - 
Net liability 1/1 2,093,644 156,972 
   
Prior period tax prepayment liability 1,826,502 - 
Prior period advance payment (1,687,319) (824,849) 
Offset against other debts (1,239,771) (54,248) 
Other taxes 1,600 1,600 
Withholding tax in current period (1,901,204) - 
Current year tax expense 5,303,999 2,814,169 
Prior year tax expense (101,221) - 
Movement for the year 2,202,586 1,936,672 
   
Liability on 31/12 4,296,230 2,093,644 
Receivable on 31/12 - - 
Net liability / (receivable) 31/12 4,296,230 2,093,644 
 
The tax rates on the profits of the main subsidiaries of the Group, based on their country of tax 
residence are as follows:  
 
1. Theon International PLC, Cyprus: 12,5% 
2. Theon Sensors AG, Switzerland: 11,9% 
3. Theon Sensors SA, Greece: From year 2021 onwards: 22% following  article 120 of law 

4799/2021 (17 May 2021). 
4. Theon Sensors MEA FZC, United Arab Emirates: 0% 
5. Theon Sensors Far East Ltd, Singapore: 16% 

  
5.25 Other taxes - Duties 
 2021 2020 
 € € 
Other withholding taxes and duties 131,663 121,956 
Net book value 131,663 121,956 
 
5.26 Other liabilities 
 2021 2020 
 € € 
Customer prepayments 4,329,348 1,663,834 
Various creditors 3,390,336 185,718 
Net book value 7,719,684 1,849,552 
 
5.27 Contingent Liabilities & Commitments 
 
The Group has no significant outstanding liabilities to third parties or third parties. The guarantee 
letters which have been issued are shown in the table below: 
 2021 2020 
 € € 
Guarantee letters for customs office 7,040,500 4,962,000 
Performance guarantees 348,879 946,831 
Guarantee letters for goods standing 1,162,855 11,164 
Guarantee letters for in favor customer prepayments 1,895,280 3,001,744 
Guarantee letters for in favor of 3rd parties 191,744 - 
Guarantee letters for participation 220,842 484,521 
 10,860,100 9,406,260 
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5.28 Operating environment of the Group 
 
During the year ended 31 December 2021, the spread of the COVID-19 pandemic was taking 
place, both in our country and globally. Although the peak of this pandemic is now behind us and 
it is currently impossible to safely estimate the extent of the financial and other consequences in 
Cyprus, the countries in which the Group operates as well as internationally, it is anticipated that 
they will be significant. 
 
Given the above, the Management of the Group is currently unable to estimate the extent of the 
long-term impact of the pandemic on the financials and course of the Group. Management's 
current expectations and estimates could differ from actual results.  Management has considered 
the unique circumstances that had a material impact on the business operations and the risk 
exposures of the Group and has concluded that the main impacts on the Group's 
profitability/liquidity position have arisen from: 
 
 interruption of productivity, 

 supply chain disruptions, 
 reduction in sales due to closure of facilities and stores, 

 increase in expected credit losses from trade receivables 

Management has assessed and is in the process of reassessing the trading and relevant cash 
flows using revised assumptions and incorporating downside scenarios in assessing actual and 
potential financing needs, taking into consideration the main impacts identified above. 
 
It  will continue to monitor the situation closely and assess/seek additional measures/committed 
facilities as a fall-back plan in case the period of disruption becomes prolonged. Αs soon as safe 
forecasts can be made, management shall assess said impact on the financials and course of 
the Group and shall accordingly notify its partners. 
 
The financial effect of the current crisis on the global economy and overall business activities 
cannot be estimated with reasonable certainty though, due to the pace at which the outbreak 
expands and the high level of uncertainties arising from the inability to reliably predict the 
outcome. 
 
5.29 Transactions with related parties 
 
The principal shareholder and ultimate beneficial owner of the group is Mr. Christian Hadjiminas 
who owns 79.19% of the share capital.  The other shareholders with ownership percentage over 
5% are Mr. Nikolaos Papatsas who owns 14.04% and other group employees that own 6.77%.  
 
5.29.1 Remuneration of senior management and Board members 
 
Remuneration of senior management and Board members were as follows: 
 2021 2020 
 € € 
Salaries 285,348 372,263 
Social security costs 25,949 32,002 
 311,297 404,265 
 
5.29.2 Balance with related parties 

Receivable from related parties 
 2021 2020 
 € € 
ESS - European Sensor Systems 102,089 18,875 
Ucadrone 19,861 - 
Nikolaos Papatsas – shareholder - 71 
 121,950 18,946 
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5.29 Transactions with related parties (continued) 
5.29.1 Remuneration of senior management and Board members (continued) 
 
Payables to related parties 
 2021 2020 
 € € 
ESS - European Sensor Systems - 93,000 
EFA – European investments - 248,000 
Paty Hadjiminas -         71,460 
Christian Hadjiminas – shareholder -   5,500,764 
Nikolaos Papatsas– shareholder -      669,403 
Thomas Ntakos – shareholder -      436,712 
Vassilios Savvaidis – shareholder -      282,548 
Evangelos Boutlas – shareholder - 708 
 - 7,209,595 
 
The balance due to Aerospace Ventures AG bears interest 1.9% and 2.25%.  All the other 
balances are interest free and are payable on demand. 
 
5.29.3 Transactions with related parties 
 
Sale of products 
 2021 2020 
 € € 
ESS - European sensor systems 75,852 20,165 
Skytalis 400 - 
Ucadrone 24,202 - 
 100,454 20,165 
 
Purchases of products and services 
 2021 2020 
 € € 
ESS – European sensor systems 350,000 300,000 
EFA – European investments 224,000 224,000 
 574,000 524,000 
 
Sales of financial assets 
 2021 2020 
 € € 
ESS – European sensor systems 16,253 - 
Chre Investments SM PC 49,000 - 
 65,253 - 
 
5.29.4 Key management personnel 
 
Key management personnel mean persons who have the power and responsibility for planning, 
managing and controlling the activities of an economic entity, whether directly or indirectly. 
 
No loans have been provided to members of the Board or other Group management executives 
(or their families) and there are no receivables/liabilities involving Board members. 
 
There were no changes in transactions between the Group and related parties which could have 
material impacts on the Group's financial position and performance for the period ended. 
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5.30 Shareholders holding more than 5% for the issued share capital of the Group 
 
On 31 December 2021 and upto the date of approval of these financial statements, the following 
shareholders owned, directly or indirectly more that 5% of the nominal value of the issued share 
capital of the Group: 

 2021 
 Directly Indirectly 
Christian Hadjiminas 79,19% - 
Nikolaos Papatsas 14,04% - 

 
 
5.31 Participation of Management in the share capital of the Group 
 
The percentage of direct and indirect participation of the Board of Directors in the share capital 
of the Group Company (according to the article (4) (b) of the Directive ΟΔ 190-2007-04) on 31 
December 2021 and upto the date of approval of these financial statements were as follows: 
 

 2021 
 Directly Indirectly 
Christian Hadjiminas 79,19% - 

 
5.32 Significant agreements with Management 
 
As at the year-end date of 31 December 2021 there were no material agreements between the 
Group and its Management. 
 
5.33 Going Concern 
 
The Group’s financial statements have been prepared on the basis that the Group remains a 
going concern. 
 
5.34 Subsequent events 
 
a) The recent geopolitical events in Ukraine with the Russian military activities and the 
imposition of a series of restrictive measures (sanctions) against Russia could affect the world 
markets for goods, energy and the economic developments in general.  Management continues 
to monitor the situation closely and will assess the need for relative actions. 
 
It is anticipated that the Ukraine crisis, will positively affect the financial results of the Group as 
it will allow the sector, especially in night vision systems to develop further. 

More specifically, the Group considers that the anticipated increase in defence and security 
spending worldwide and in particular in the European Union, as a result of the Ukraine crisis will 
positively affect the Group both in 2022 and 2023. 
 
The key factors which will affect the Company’s performance and turnover and results in 2022 
include, among others, the willingness to spend on defence equipment (including that for security 
services), the state of the global economy and the intensity of competition.   

The management of the Group assess the above factors on a continued basis and plans for 
necessary actions for the optimisation of Group performance on the basis of the developments 
as they arise. 
Management considers the geopolitical events in Ukraine as non-adjusting post balance sheet 
events and their impact cannot be assessed at this point in time. 
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5.34 Subsequent events (continued) 
 

(b) It is noted that, in early 2022, the Group has already prepaid long-term loans of € 3,711,768. 
Therefore, the Long-Term Loans is as follows: 

 
Balance 

31/12/2021 

Incurred Early 
repayments of 

loans 
New 

balance 
 € € € 

Long-term loans 8,257,639 (3,711,768) 4,545,871 
 

Except from the matters mentioned above, there were no other material events after the end of 
the financial year, which have a bearing on the understanding of the consolidated financial 
statements. 

 

Nicosia, 12 May 2022 

 
 
 
 
 
The Managing Director 

 

The Vice President of the Board 

 
 

 

Christian Hadjiminas 

 

 

Petros Christou 
 

 

 


